THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002223

RECEIVED

DEC 20 2019

SC Court of Appeals

H. Hugh Andrews ..... Respondent,

v.

Quentin S. Broom, Jr., .....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Whitney B. Harrison (# 100111)  
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC  
1517 Hampton Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-0100

Matthew T. Richardson (# 15647)  
James E. Cox, Jr. (# 103886)  
Wyche, P.A.  
807 Gervais Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 254-6542

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether Andrews' claims are precluded by the law of the case doctrine because he failed to obtain a ruling from his prior appeal of a 2011 order dismissing his claims with prejudice?**
- II. **Whether Andrews' claims are barred by the statute of limitations because his 2016 complaint does not relate back to the prior pleading that was dismissed with prejudice?**
- III. **Whether the trial court erred in finding Andrews had met his burden of proof that Broom violated fiduciary duties as an officer and director of Tri-Star?**
- IV. **Whether the trial court erred in adopting and applying an exception for pleading shareholder derivative claims as individual claims involving a statutory close corporation when South Carolina has explicitly rejected the exception and Andrews submitted no supporting evidence?**
- V. **Whether the trial court erred in awarding punitive damages?**
- VI. **Whether the trial court erred in awarding attorneys' fees?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute between two video gaming business partners has a protracted and cumbersome history spanning more than fourteen years and two previous appellate decisions. Appellant Quentin Broom initially filed a lawsuit in 2005 alleging a variety of claims against Respondent Hugh Andrews in connection with being equal shareholders in Tri-Star Communications, Inc. (“Tri-Star”). In 2006 Andrews alleged direct and derivative counterclaims on behalf of Tri-Star. Broom moved to dismiss the counterclaims primarily because Andrews failed to comply with Rule 23, SCRCF, requirements for a derivative suit. Following a hearing, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes dismissed with prejudice Andrews’ counterclaims for failing to comply with Rule 23(b)(1) for derivative actions by shareholders. (Order, 11/1/2011.) Andrews then moved for reconsideration and moved to amend the counterclaims. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration, but did not rule on the motion for leave to amend. (Order, 2/1/2013.)

Andrews appealed the dismissal of his counterclaims, arguing for the creation of a new rule for an exception to the derivative suit filing requirements when a corporation only has two shareholders and that he should have been given an opportunity to amend the pleadings before their dismissal. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 5-14.) Broom responded, arguing that the claims were derivative not direct, and clear precedent required the special pleading rule for derivative claims. (Respondent’s Initial Brief, pp. 7-18.) Broom also pointed out Andrews’ last argument about an amendment was not preserved for review. (*Id.*, pp. 19-20.) Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals entered an unpublished opinion that “did not address these issues and, instead remanded the case to the [trial] court so the trial judge could rule on [Andrews’] Rule 15, SCRCF, motion to amend the pleadings.” *Broom v. Ten State St., LLP*, No. 2015-000583, 2015 WL 5728106, at \*1 (Sept. 30, 2015).

Broom appealed the remand to the Supreme Court, which issued an unpublished opinion reversing the Court of Appeals because the issue raising the amendment to Andrews' pleading was unpreserved for appellate review. *Id.* The matter was then remitted, instead of being returned to the Court of Appeals to address Andrews' remaining issue on appeal. (Andrews Letter, 12/10/15; Supreme Court response letter, 1/6/2016.) No motion to cure the direct remittitur to the trial court was made.

Upon return of the matter to trial court<sup>1</sup> in December 2015, Andrews again moved to amend his dismissed pleading. The trial court granted the motion, and Andrews then filed a second amended answer, asserting the same direct and derivative counterclaims as in his previous pleading. Broom moved to dismiss the counterclaims under the law of the case doctrine based on the trial court's prior judgment and Andrews' failure to obtain a reversal on appeal. The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, and the matter was scheduled for a bench trial. (Order, 6/2/2017.) In addition, Broom filed a motion for summary judgment and a motion to establish facts, both of which were never ruled upon. (MSJ, 6/15/2017, Motion to Est. Facts, 6/22/2017; Trial Tr. at 8, 25-26.) Shortly before trial, Broom dismissed all his claims as plaintiff; thus, leaving only Andrews' counterclaims from the second amended answer.<sup>2</sup> (Order, 6/29/2017.) The parties were realigned, and the matter was recaptioned with Andrews as the plaintiff for trial. *Id.*

In June 2017, a three-day bench trial was held with just three fact witnesses and one expert witness. The trial court issued an order in November 2018 finding in favor of Andrews on only

---

<sup>1</sup> This matter was returned to the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II.

<sup>2</sup> These claims included (1) Breach of Fiduciary Duty; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act; (4) Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; (5) Conversion; (6) Violation of S. C. Code of Laws §33-8-300; (7) Violation of S.C. Code of Laws §33-8-420; (8) Promissory Estoppel; (9) Fraud; and (10) Negligent Misrepresentation.

one of his ten causes of action. Specifically, the trial court awarded \$1,020,000 for willful breach of fiduciary duty by Broom paying deferred salary payments to himself in late 2004 and the first part of 2005 (Order, 11/8/2017.) The damages represented one-half of the \$1,020,000 total salary that Broom received from Tri-Star for 7 years of work, and another \$510,000 in punitive damages. Broom moved for reconsideration, and Andrews petitioned for attorneys' fees. A year later, the trial court denied Broom's motion for reconsideration and granted Andrews' motion for attorneys' fees. (Order, 11/20/2018.) This appeal followed.<sup>3</sup>

### FACTS

In the 1990s, Broom and Andrews began several business ventures, including Tri-Star Communications, Inc. ("Tri-Star"), a South Carolina Corporation, to own and operate video gaming machines. Andrews and Broom were the only two shareholders with each owning fifty percent of the shares. (Trial Tr. 170-75.) Broom served as Tri-Star's sole director and sole officer overseeing and running Tri-Star's business operations. (Trial Ex. 33; Trial Tr. 170-75, 310-11.) Andrews did not pay much attention to Tri-Star's operations but contributed video gaming machines on credit with a promissory note from Tri-Star to one of his gaming machine companies, Drew's Distributing. (Trial Exs. 1, 2; Trial Tr. 307; 310.) Both shareholders also advanced a series of loans to Tri-Star each totaling over \$1 million through other promissory notes. (Trial Ex. 12; Trial Tr. 187-89; 310.) As more capital was needed over time, Andrews provided additional loans, and Broom continued to provide all the sweat equity. (Trial Ex. 12; Trial Tr. 310-11.)

---

<sup>3</sup> Following the denial of Broom's motion to reconsider, Broom filed a motion to stay the execution with the trial court. Before the trial court ruled, Broom filed the notice of appeal and a petition for supersedeas to stay the execution of judgment. This Court held this appeal in abeyance until the trial court ruled on the motion to stay. Eight months later, in August 2019, the trial court denied the motion to stay.

Tri-Star operated a variety of video gaming machines, which Tri-Star would supply to various locations like restaurants and gas stations. Tri-Star enjoyed financial success until the state-wide ban of video gaming in 2000. (Trial Tr. 337.) Following the South Carolina ban, Andrews and Broom explored moving operations to other states and abroad. (Trial Ex. 15 (Andrews Depo at 26-27; Trial Tr. 176-179.) In 2004, Tri-Star ultimately decided to begin operating in the Dominican Republic. (Trial Tr. 176-79; 336-37.) One critical condition of establishing operations in the Dominican Republic, which differed greatly from operating in the United States, was that the Dominican government mandated legal title of all machines be held by the government. (Trial Tr. 344; Trial Ex. 19.)

Through this restructuring process, Tri-Star's business operation began providing consulting services because it could not own and operate the machines directly. (Trial Tr. 182-83; MSJ Ex. 9.) Andrews already had legal counsel for some of his other businesses and arranged for that same counsel, Ten State Street, LLP and attorney Timothy D. Scrantom (collectively "Ten State Street"), to also assist with the transition of Tri-Star operations to the Dominican Republic and Tri-Star's general business needs. (Trial Tr. 179; 310-11.) These efforts included representing Tri-Star in structuring and entering into an operating agreement with World Wide, a Dominican company which could provide the local support needed to operate video gaming there. (*Id.*) Pursuant to the agreement, World Wide would operate the machines in the Dominican Republic while Tri-Star would provide the services of Broom, in his capacity as Tri-Star's officer, and other employees as consultants. (*Id.*) These consulting services included marketing, set up and lay out, and general direction and instruction on the gaming operations. (*Id.* at 181-83.) In connection with these changes, Tri-Star sold its remaining inventory of gaming machines to a Dominican gaming entity. (*Id.*)

Not surprisingly, following the South Carolina ban in 2000 and during the restructuring and relocation to the Dominican Republic during 2001-03, Tri-Star experienced significant revenue reductions. Both Broom, as an officer and shareholder, and Andrews, as a shareholder and one of Tri-Star's largest creditors, were aware of Tri-Star's financial circumstances.<sup>4</sup> This included both Andrews and Broom being aware that neither Broom's salary nor the shareholders' promissory notes could be paid during this transition time. The largest Tri-Star promissory note was owed to one of Andrews' other business ventures—Drews Distributing—for the initial inventory of gaming machines. (Trial Ex. 1; 9 at 106-07, 116-17, 127-28.) Andrews faced a lawsuit for personal liability related to another gaming business and wanted to take advantage of Tri-Star's inability to pay the note during this time. In 2002, Andrews assigned the Drews Distributing note to himself personally and cancelled this indebtedness of Tri-Star.<sup>5</sup> (Trial Exs. 3; 5; 15.) In similar fashion, Broom continued to defer all his salary payments until Tri-Star was cash flow positive. (Trial Tr. 130-32.) Both shareholders agreed that, based on the revenues and their desire to satisfy outstanding debt and grow the company, Broom's work efforts would be compensated with a reasonable salary for each year of work, once Tri-Star was financially stable. (Trial Tr. 135, 190, 316-17.) As a result, from inception in 1997 to the positive cash flow from operations in the Dominican Republic in late 2004 Broom did not receive any salary.

---

<sup>4</sup> Access to Tri-Star's revenues, during this time, encountered varying degrees of difficulty because of Dominican Republic banking crises and other currency transfer regulations. As a result, personal loans to Tri-Star were used on several occasions to transfer funds in U.S. dollars to Tri-Star in the United States, while equivalent amounts were repaid in full from Dominican operations to keep Tri-Star functioning. (Trial Tr. at 239-40, 252-53, 348.) No money from these transfers or additional transactions were unaccounted for or ever missing from Tri-Star's ledger.

<sup>5</sup> This, in turn, allowed Andrews to recognize the loss and deduct it from his income that year. (Trial Ex. 9 at 364-66; 28; Trial Tr. at 309.) The assignment of debt also permitted Andrews to reduce the assets of Drews shortly before Drews was subjected to a \$1.5 million adverse judgment in an arbitration with a competitor. (Trial Ex. 10.)

In 2004 and early 2005, Tri-Star's finances not only stabilized but became very profitable with Tri-Star receiving \$180,000 per month from Worldwide. (Trial Ex. 37; Trial Tr. 199; 334-36.) In May 2004, Broom, Andrews, and Tri-Star's attorneys and its CPA, Tim Russell, met to discuss Tri-Star's finances, which included Broom's deferred salary payments. (Trial Ex. 49; Trial Tr. 191-98; 308.) Broom and Andrews, with the CPA's guidance, determined Broom was entitled to a fair and reasonable deferred salary of \$100,000 per year for his work from 1997-2000, \$110,000 per year from 2001-2004, and \$20,000 per month going forward in 2005. (*Id.*) At trial, Tri-Star's CPA, Russell, testified by deposition that the salary amounts were reasonable. (Trial Ex. 57.)

Pursuant to this agreement, Broom received deferred salary payments of \$400,000 in December 2004 for the first 4 years of 1997-2000; and further payments of \$130,000 in January 2005, \$130,000 in February 2005, \$185,000 in March 2005, and \$75,000 in April 2005. (Trial Ex. 32.) These payments were placed in Tri-Star's ledger, and copies of financial statements showing all payments and amounts were provided monthly to Andrews' agents, including his bookkeeper Claudia Humphries and attorney Curt Stodghill. (Trial Tr. 355-362; Trial Ex. 32, 36 at 2; 37.) Andrews' and Tri-Star's attorneys, Ten State Street, issued statements and reports confirming their receipt of these material payments. (Trial Ex. 49.) Andrews admitted that he didn't review or understand the financial records and counted on his agents in that regard. (Trial Tr. 357.)

Tri-Star's operations in Dominican Republic remained intact until June 2005 when without notice, the Attorney General of the Dominican Republic directed all gaming machines had to be removed from use by consumers. (Trial Ex. 6; Trial Tr. 199-201.) Failure to remove the machines would result in confiscation and destruction. (*Id.*) In response, Broom on behalf of Tri-Star, along

with the assistance of Tri-Star's Dominican business joint venture World Wide, removed the machines to a warehouse to comply with the mandate. (Trial Ex. 7.)

Less than a week later, the Attorney General issued a second directive that all machines had to be "retired" or removed from the Dominican Republic within twenty days. (*Id.*) Being initially hopeful that operations would resume based on a change in the local law, Broom thought operations would resume and made efforts to manage the uncertain and changing circumstances and improve the political situation through lobbying efforts. (Trial Tr. 200-02.) Revenues had ceased, but expenses were continuing. (Trial Tr. 201-03.) World Wide still owed Tri-Star for operations before the ban, and Broom secured payments to Tri-Star from World Wide's Dominican owner. (Trial Tr. 249-250.)

Andrews kept abreast of developments through his agents and Tri-Star's legal counsel. During this time, Broom made requests for capital contributions to keep the business efforts funded while Tri-Star's revenue stream was stopped. (Trial Ex. 7.) Despite these documented requests, Andrews refused to provide capital contributions for Tri-Star. (Trial Tr. 363-64.) Instead, he traveled to the Dominican Republic and confirmed the uncertain political and financial circumstances. (Trial Tr. 355.) As in the past when money needed to be transferred between Tri-Star and World Wide, money was moved between the companies and across borders through a series of transfers. (Trial Tr. at 239-40, 252-53, 348.)

In the absence of financial resources and dwindling time to remove the machines from the country to avoid confiscation, Broom, on behalf of Tri-Star, undertook efforts to have the machines sold and money returned to Tri-Star to avoid a total loss. He received two bids and selected the only viable one. (Trial Ex. 13.) Broom's counsel kept Andrews updated throughout this process. (Trial Ex. 7; Trial Tr. 355, 363.) At the end of 2005 during the wind down, an equity distribution

was issued to both Broom and Andrews after all outstanding debt was satisfied and before Broom received all his deferred salary payments.<sup>6</sup> (Ex. 11 at 17.)

### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

During this period of uncertainty after operations had been stopped in late June 2005, Broom filed the underlying lawsuit because Andrews refused to help manage the uncertain future of the company in the Dominican Republic. Andrews answered the lawsuit but refused to seek a solution to the situation in the Dominican Republic. Then in 2006 after Broom paid all the company's known debts and distributed the remaining money as equity, Andrews amended his answer to allege ten causes of action against Broom. (Amended Answer and Counterclaims.) All of Andrews' claims were based on various allegations of mismanagement on the part of Broom as an officer and director that allegedly resulted in losses to Tri-Star, as a corporate entity, and to Andrews, as a shareholder and creditor of Tri-Star.

In September 2011, Broom moved to dismiss the Andrews' claims because Andrews had not complied with the pleading and demand requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) prior to filing shareholder derivative claims on behalf of Tri-Star. After a hearing, the trial court dismissed with prejudice "all claims of Tri-Star and all claims brought by Andrews individually that overlap with any alleged injuries suffered by Tri-Star." (Order, 11/1/2011.)

The trial court provided a claim-by-claim analysis explaining that Andrews failed to allege facts sufficient to show he had standing because all recoveries were to be paid to Tri-Star. (*Id.* at 4.) Notably, the trial court held "this record does not present a factual scenario sufficient to ignore the corporate nature of [Tri-Star]." (*Id.* at 8.) The trial court specifically rejected Andrews'

---

<sup>6</sup> Tri-Star ceased operations and wound down in December 2005. It was administratively dissolved on August 13, 2009.

argument that an exception to the rule for derivative claims should be applied, noting that “our appellate courts have consistently rejected exceptions to the general rule, even when those cases involved closely held corporations.” (*Id.*)

Andrews subsequently filed a motion to amend the counterclaims “based upon information learned and/or events that have transpired since the filing of his Amended Answer and Counterclaims is May 2006” as well as a motion to reconsider the order granting Broom’s motion to dismiss. (Motion to Amend.) Following a hearing, the motion to reconsider was denied, and no ruling was made on the motion to amend. (Order, 2/1/2013.) An appeal followed.

In the prior appeal, Andrews argued he should be allowed to bring direct claims instead of being encumbered by derivative suit requirements when a corporation only has two shareholders and that he also should have been provided the opportunity to amend the pleadings. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 5-14.) Broom argued the latter was not preserved for review because the trial court did not rule on Andrews’ motion to amend and a ruling had not been sought in a motion to reconsider. (Respondent’s Initial Brief, pp. 19-20.) Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals entered an unpublished opinion that “did not address these issues and, instead remanded the case to the [trial] court so the trial judge could rule on [Andrews’] Rule 15, SCRCPC, motion to amend the pleadings.” *Broom v. Ten State St., LLP*, 2015 WL 164429, at \*1.

Broom petitioned the Supreme Court arguing the decision to remand was an error of law because Andrews failed to obtain a ruling on the motion to amend, and it would be improper to provide Andrews a second opportunity to receive a ruling. (Petition.) In his return, Andrews acknowledged the Court of Appeals’ decision was incorrect but urged the Supreme Court to end the appeal and allow him to amend his pleadings. (Return at 2-4.) Relying solely on the petition

and return, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals. *Broom v. Ten State St., LLP*, 2015 WL 164429, at \*1.

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