**RECEIVED**

**Aug 03 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

The Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2018-002223

---

H. Hugh Andrews,

Respondent,

v.

Quentin S. Broom, Jr.

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Rodney F. Pillsbury  
Pillsbury Law Firm, LLC  
301 Rutherford St.  
Greenville, SC 29609  
(864) 241-9823

Attorney for Respondent

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

### **Legal Arguments**

#### **I. RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS WERE NOT PRECLUDED BY THE 2011 APPEAL.**

Broom argues, in essence, that Andrews should not have been permitted to do exactly what the South Carolina Supreme Court instructed by way of its remittitur – obtain a ruling on his motion to amend his pleadings (filed on November 14, 2011). Appellate

repeatedly incorrectly labels the Court’s 2011 dismissal of Andrews’ counterclaims a “final judgment.” This is a misstatement of the law.

“Final judgment” is a term of art with a definite meaning. A final judgment terminates the entire case: it “disposes of the whole subject matter of the action or terminates the particular proceeding or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.” *Bone v. U.S. Food Serv.*, 404 S.C. 67, 75, 744 S.E.2d 552, 557 (2013) (quoting *Charlotte–Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 895 (2010)). This is not a new definition. Other frequently cited cases include *Good v. Hartford*, decided in 1942, see 201 S.C. 32, 21 S.E.2d 209, and *Adickes v. Allison & Bratton*, 21 S.C. 245 (1884). A final judgment happens when a case reaches the “end of the road.” *Baldwin Const. Co. v. Graham*, 357 S.C. 227, 230, 593 S.E.2d 146, 147 (2004). This case has never reached the end of the road.

The trial court’s November 1, 2011 order dismissed Andrews’ counterclaims, holding they were improperly pled as individual claims when they were in fact derivative. Importantly, that order was not the end of the case. It was not even the end of Andrews’ pleading, which remained pending, until the case was remanded back to the trial court in 2015. At the time of the order dismissing the counterclaims, Andrews had a pending motion to amend his pleading to add additional facts supporting those counterclaims. In the prior appeal, Appellate insisted that the motion to amend had not been ruled on by the circuit court; necessarily acknowledging the story of Andrews’ counterclaims would go on.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals recently articulated the same analysis. *See, Tillman v. Tillman*, 801 S.E.2d 757, 420 S.C. 246 (S.C. App. 2017) In *Tillman*, the court explained “the fate of [a party’s] counterclaims has not been finally determined as long as his motion to amend hangs in the balance,” and it also noted “the ease with which pleadings may now be amended.” *Id.* at p. 759.

There are factual differences between the present case and *Tillman* to be sure. The counterclaims in *Tillman* were not dismissed with prejudice, but that distinction makes no difference. At the time of the original appeal, Andrews had a pending motion to amend his pleading. At no time did Broom identify any authority that would prohibit Andrews from bringing properly pled derivative counterclaims after his individual counterclaims were dismissed with prejudice. These counterclaims would obviously relate back to the filing of the original lawsuit under Rule 15(c), SCRPC.

Appellant’s arguments, both here and on “law of the case,” are an intellectually dishonest shell game. Until the Court entered its final order and judgment on November 20, 2018 following the three (3) day trial and determination of all post-trial motions, there was no final judgment entered in the case.

The law of the case applies to subsequent proceedings in the same litigation following an appellate decision. *Lifschultz Fast Freight, Inc. v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard*, 334 S.C. 244, 245, 513 S.E.2d 96, 96-97 (1999). This part of the doctrine is obviously satisfied: the proceedings following the Supreme Court’s remittitur (ruling on motion to amend; trial; and ruling on all post-trial motions) were in the same litigation following an appeal.

The law of the case “prohibits issues which have been *decided* in a prior appeal from being relitigated in the trial court in the same case.” Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C., 328 S.C. 51, 62, 492 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1997) (emphasis added). Nothing was decided in the prior appeal. The Court of Appeals tried to remand the case for a ruling on the motion to amend, specifically instructing the circuit court that amendments should be freely granted. The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals for addressing a motion that had not been ruled on.<sup>1</sup> The Supreme Court remitted the case back to the trial court, a remittitur which Broom inferentially concedes was by mistake.

Broom makes then argues that Andrews’ failure to ask the Supreme Court to recall the mistakenly issued remittitur counts as abandonment of the appeal, citing no authority that is remotely similar. Moreover, Broom has failed to articulate—and cannot articulate—how he was prejudiced by allowing Andrews to amend his pleading to state counterclaims for corporate self-dealing when Andrews has consistently asserted those counterclaims since 2006. If Broom *had* articulated such an argument (and he has not), and if an appellate court *had* bought that argument (they have not), Broom’s law of the case argument would have sticking power. But the appellate decisions readily disclose neither court decided anything of the sort.

If the trial court viewed its November 1, 2011 order as a final judgment on the merits following remittitur from the Supreme Court, the trial court could have denied Andrews’ motion to amend the pleadings and granted Broom’s motion for summary

---

<sup>1</sup> It should be noted that on appeal to the Supreme Court, Broom adamantly maintained in that appeal that Andrews’ motion to amend had not been decided by the trial court. Andrews’ petition for rehearing asked the Supreme Court to consider the case’s age and, in the interest of economy, rule that Andrews’ amendments should be allowed before remanding. The Supreme Court simply remanded.

judgment on that basis. However, the trial court recognized that Andrews should be allowed to amend his pleadings, and then permitted the case to go to trial on the merits.

Rather than help the case towards a final judgment, Broom chose on remand to be obstructionist: first, contending the Court could not hold a hearing on the motion to amend, then forcing two additional hearings on the topic, and ultimately filing no fewer than four motions re-litigating the point. This “law of the case” argument is a sham. The circumstances are difficult only because Broom seems happy to take different and inconsistent positions depending on the forum, telling the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court the motion to amend is pending but, after the case was remanded because of the pending motion to amend, arguing that the motion to amend is “dead.”

The trial court correctly saw through Broom’s contradictory positions. By granting Andrew’s motion to amend in June 2016, clearly the trial court recognized that its November 1, 2011 order was not a full and final adjudication on the merits. Adhering to the liberal principle of allowing motions to amend, and following the Supreme Court’s directive remanding the case, the trial court properly permitted Andrews to amend his pleadings, thereby allowing Andrews to proceed to trial on its merits.

**II. RESPONDENT’S CLAIMS ARE NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, BECAUSE THEY RELATE BACK TO THE ORIGINAL FILING OF THE CASE.**

Derivative of Appellant’s previous argument, Broom argues that the 2016 claims are barred by the statute of limitations – as if the second amended answer and counterclaims filed in 2017 were being alleged against Broom *de novo* on a new filing. As stated above, because the first appeal never addressed the merits, the November 1, 2011 order was not a

final ruling on the merits. Permitting Andrews to amend his pleadings related back to the original allegations set forth Andrew's Amended Answer and Counterclaims, filed in May 2006. Indeed, the 2017 Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims allege substantially the same misconduct by Broom, with different statutory claims.

Upon remand from the South Carolina Supreme Court, the fact that the case maintained its original 2008-CP-42-3397 further supports that the second amended complaint related back to the original filings of this case against the same parties, and was not a new or separate pleading on a new action. Under Rule 15(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the claims relate back to the original filing and the timeliness is proper.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT BREACHED HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO RESPONDENT AS AN OFFICER AND DIRECTOR OF THEIR CLOSELY-HELD CORPORATION.**

Broom argues that the trial court's findings of fact and application of those facts to the law are unsupported by the evidence. This argument underscores why the trial court's finding of facts is given such great deference on appeal. The trial court acknowledged that the parties presented vastly diverse accounts about Broom's unilateral liquidation of Tri-Star and his unilateral payment of over a million dollars in salary to himself during the process. [R. p. 55]

In his brief, Broom proffers the evidence at trial in the light most favorable to Broom. Broom testified that it was a struggle for operations in the Dominican Republic to be profitable. [R p. 327, l. 21 – p. 333, l. 9; p. 359, l. 1 – p. 361, l. 10] There were problems converting Dominican profits to U.S. dollars and there were problems related to import and

export taxes. [*Id.*] Broom also testified about legal issues Worldwide's poker games ran into in the Dominican Republic. [*Id.*]

Broom said he worked for years without taking a salary to help the business get on its footing. [R p. 336, ll. 13-25] Broom also said the parties always contemplated his being entitled to a salary, both prospectively and retroactively. [*Id.*] As to the latter point, Andrews testified that he consented to a salary for Broom only after Andrews was paid for the video poker machines he sold to Tri-Star. [R p. 462] Because Andrews was never paid for those games, Broom should not have taken a salary.

Broom controlled the financial operations of Tri-Star. [R p. 56, p. 275, ll. 6-18] He admitted that when he began paying himself a salary, he did not consult with Andrews as to the amount (because he believed he was not obligated to) [R pp. 281, l. 23 – p. 283, l. 7]; nor did he even notify Andrews he had begun paying himself. [*Id.*] Although Tri-Star had been in operation since 1997, Broom did not begin paying himself a salary until December 31, 2004. [*Id.*] From December 31, 2004 until December 31, 2005, Broom paid himself a total of \$1,020,000.00. [R p. 56; p. 836 and p. 850]

Broom testified he believed these were justified because the company had achieved profitability. However, the evidence directly refuted this assertion. For example, in order to pay himself \$400,000.00 in salary from Tri-Star on December 31, 2004, Broom borrowed \$325,000.00 from relatives and his other company, Best Games. [R. p. 56 and pp. 385, ll. 1-8, p. 386, ll. 23-25, p. 890 and 892] In other words, in order to pay himself \$400,000.00 payment from Tri-Star in December 2004, Broom had to borrow 81.25% of that amount to make the payment. [*Id.*]

This transaction by itself clearly and convincingly evidences Broom's bad faith and fraudulent intent. There is no legitimate business reason a company would borrow \$325,000.00 from family members to make a self-dealing \$400,000.00 salary payment to an employee on the last business day of the year.

Other financial transactions demonstrated Broom's bad faith and fraudulent intent. In February 14, 2005, Broom purchased a \$3.5 Million-dollar estate in Miami, Florida. [R. p. 57, pp. 873-888] Within the context of the money transfers and payments Broom made to himself beginning on December 31, 2004, the purchase was made as part of Broom's plan to close down the Dominican operations and re-open them without Andrews. The homestead exemption under Florida law would have made Broom *de facto* judgment-proof from any claims asserted by Andrews.

Additionally, whenever Broom wanted to move money from Worldwide to Tri-Star, he would simply have the funds wire transferred to Tri-Star's account. [R p. 383, l. 11 – p. 385, l. 4] However, in order to meet Tri-Star's unilateral salary commitment Broom made for himself, it became incumbent for the Dominican Republic's partner in Worldwide (Edmund Elias Yunes) to wire transfer personal funds to Tri-Star. [R p. 390, l. 24 – p. 391, l. 5; p. 911] Mr. Yunes transferred \$100,000.00 on April 28, 2005 [R p. 911] and \$90,000.00 on June 29, 2005 [R p. 921]. Clearly, neither Tri-Star nor Worldwide were independently profitable as Broom testified.

Finally, there is the purported sale of the video poker machines themselves. Broom testified that he sold 1,122 video poker machines for the sum of \$400,000.00, in September 2005. [R. p. 1441] The parties stipulated that Andrews did not receive notice of any potential sale until after the sale had already occurred. [R. p. 436, l. 25 – p. 437, l. 2, p.

439, ll. 2-8] Andrews vehemently objected to the sale, because he believed the machines were worth considerably more. [R. p. 439, ll. 2-13] Mr. Mike Fletcher, testified that the CPU boards alone on the machines were worth \$1,122,000.00. [R p. 206, ll. 10-21] Mr. Fletcher opined a value of the machines in September 2005 between \$1,767,150.00 and \$1,512,000.00.<sup>2</sup> [R p. 202, ll. 7-22]

When testifying about the difficulty of operating the machines in the Dominican Republic to justify his salary, Broom stated that the machines had extensive licensing issues that needed to be overcome to have them domesticated in the Dominican Republic. [R pp. 359, l. 1 – p. 360, l. 8] However, when it came to the sale of the machines, literally Broom only had one (1) single slip of paper to document the entire sale of \$1,122 machines: a receipt showing someone paid Broom’s employee, Frank Dillashaw, \$400,000.00 cash in US dollars. [R. p. 1441, p. 397, ll. 9-22] Although Broom testified the \$400,000.00 was paid in cash to Dillashaw in the Dominican Republic, there were no title transfers; no bank deposit slips of the money received; no other documents of any kind evidencing the sale of 1,112 video poker machines. [*Id.*]

Meanwhile, back in South Carolina, Broom never deposited the \$400,000.00 from the alleged sale in Tri-Star’s account. In his unilateral decision to liquidate Tri-Star, Broom made a \$400,000.00 deposit in Tri-Star’s account on November 3, 2005. [R. p. 398, l. 2 – p. 401, l. 2] This was designed to give the appearance of depositing the funds from the alleged sale of the machines. However, the deposit slip reveals the \$400,000.00 came from

---

<sup>2</sup> Broom argues at length that the involuntary bankruptcy action foreclosed all claims Andrews had related to the sale of the video poker games themselves. The trial court largely agreed. [R. pp. 58-59] However, the trial court found that the bankruptcy action did not address Broom’s unilateral salary payments to himself, and based Andrews recovery as to that item alone. [R. pp. 59-60]

multiple local accounts (money he allegedly borrowed from family and/or other companies he controlled). [R pp. 936 and 937]

The Court had good reason to question if a sale ever, in fact, did take place. Broom testified that he invested \$150,000.00 (from his net share of the sale proceeds) in a business with Frank Dillashaw – specifically in a venture that did not involve Respondent’s video poker games. [R. p. 295, l.4 - p. 306, l.15] From that supposed \$150,000.00 investment in late 2005, Broom’s tax records reflect that he made a phenomenal return on his investment: over \$3,588.101 over eight and a half (8½) years. [R p. 405, l. 16 - 410, l. 11; p. 750, p. 768, p. 772, p. 776, p. 779, p. 782, p. 788, p. 792, p. 797, p. 802, and p. 949]

Broom testified that he did not know what happened to the 1,122 poker machines formerly belonging to Tri-Star. [R. p. 355, ll.2-24] He testified that the money he made in the Dominican Republic after closing Tri-Star was a different video game machine. [R. pp. 356-357] The Court properly found this testimony lacked any credibility. Other than one manual, Broom did not provide any documented evidence to support his testimony that the machines from which he made millions were not the video poker machines formerly owned by Tri-Star: not one picture; receipt; title record or any other document which easily would have confirmed Broom’s story.

Based upon the totality of the financial records and other evidence, the Court’s finding that Broom’s purported sale in September 2005 of the Tri-Star assets was a sham is supported by the evidence. The money Broom made for years following 2005 from the video poker operations in the Dominican Republic is entirely consistent with the income stream the machines from Tri-Star would have generated. In particular, the Court did not

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